FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 5/1/2024 4:03 PM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

Supreme Court No. _____

Case #: 1030185

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

No. 85105-5-I WASHINGTON STATE COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION I

In the Receivership of: CASTLE WALLS LLC.

JOHANSEN CONSTRUCTION COMPANY, LLC,

Petitioner,

v.

REVITALIZATION PARTNERS, LLC,

Respondent/Receiver.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Michael B. King, WSBA No. 14405 Gregory M. Miller, WSBA No. 14459 James E. Lobsenz, WSBA No. 8787 John R. Welch, WSBA No. 26649

CARNEY BADLEY SPELLMAN, P.S. 701 Fifth Avenue, Suite 3600 Seattle, Washington 98104 Telephone: (206) 622-8020

Attorneys for Johansen Construction Company, LLC

A. Identity of Petitioner and Decision Below.

Petitioner Johansen Construction Company, LLC ("Johansen"), seeks review of Division One's April 1, 2024, decision affirming an order that Johansen turnover \$228,863.83 to Respondent Revitalization Partners, LLC, the appointed receiver ("Receiver") for the insolvent, Castle Walls, LLC, and awarding fees. *In re Receivership of Castle Walls, LLC*, ___ Wn. App.2d __, 545 P.3d 816 (2024) (App. 1-21) ("Decision").

The Receiver sought summary turnover of funds sent to Johansen alleged to be property of the Castle Walls receivership estate. Johansen argued the Receiver had no right to the money because it "stands in the shoes" of the insolvent who had no contract right to the money since it breached and did not do the work, and because it stole the money by depositing joint checks with only one signature. The trial court ordered payment to the Receiver and awarded fees. Johansen appealed and superseded the judgment. The Court of Appeals affirmed.

B. Issues Presented for Review.

- 1. Fundamental Elements of Receivership Law: Did the Court of Appeals err in concluding that a 2004 recodification of receivership statutes abrogated this Court's prior decisions (Morse Electro Products Corp. v. Beneficial Industrial Loan Co., 90 Wn.2d 195, 198, 579 P.2d 1341 (1978), Roeblings Sons Co. v. Frederickson Logging & Timber Co., 153 Wash. 580, 585, 280 P. 93 (1929), and Western Electric Co., Inc. v. Norway Pacific Constr. & Drydock Co., 124 Wash. 49, 213 P. 686 (1923)), recognizing that a Receiver stands in the shoes of its insolvent and therefore cannot exercise authority over property in which its insolvent had no lawful interest? RAP 13.4(b)(1), (4).
- 2. Receivership Turnover Statute And Receiver's Authority: If the insolvent stole funds, does a court err if it allows a Receiver, who merely "stands in the shoes of its insolvent," to effectively steal the money a second time via the turnover statute, RCW 7.60.070? RAP 13.4(b)(4).
- 3. Applicable Law For Receiverships: Does a Receiver have any authority over property which the insolvent obtained by stealing it? When deciding whether the property was obtained improperly, by fraud, theft or larceny, given the command of RCW 7.60.060(2)(b) "to comply with state law" must the court apply the definitions provided by the Washington criminal code and Washington case law? Or may a court apply federal bankruptcy law to let the Receiver repeat the insolvent's theft to the benefit of the insolvent's secured creditor? RAP 13.4(b)(4).

C. Statement of the Case.

1. General contractor Johansen sent joint checks to its subcontractor Castle Walls, to pay Castle Walls and its supplier Automatic Wilbert. The checks required the signature of both Castle Walls and Automatic Gilbert. Castle Walls misappropriated all the money sent by Johansen by fraudulently tendering the checks to its bank without Automatic Gilbert's signature and then -- after its bank erroneously deposited the funds into Castle Walls account - converting all of the funds to its own use, leaving Automatic Gilbert unpaid the money it was owed. After Automatic Gilbert placed a lien on the Project, Johansen terminated Castle Walls for breach of contract and successfully completed the Project after obtaining a release of Automatic Gilbert's lien.

In 2021, Johansen contracted for site improvement work on a private development project ("Project") and subcontracted with the now-insolvent, Castle Walls, to furnish and install retaining walls ("Subcontract"). Castle Walls in turn contracted with Automatic Wilbert Vault Co., Inc. ("Automatic Wilbert") to supply materials. CP 100 and cited declarations.

¹ See Johansen's trial brief, CP 100-108, and supporting declarations, and the Subcontract at CP 119-144.

Castle Walls eventually requested payment for work performed and, per the Subcontract, ultimately received three checks made out *jointly* to Castle Walls and Automatic Wilbert in November 2021 and February and March, 2022, totaling \$228,863.83. Id. Unbeknownst to Johansen, Castle Walls tendered each check to its bank "for deposit only" without Automatic Wilbert's endorsement, see CP 146-148 (checks), and without otherwise paying Automatic Wilbert its share. CP 101; 114-115; 152-153 (lien). Castle Walls' bank negotiated the checks rather than reject them for lack of the second signature. See CP 85 (Castle Walls bank statement belatedly noting "invalid endorsements" on 8/3/22, "deleting" the credits although the account was overdrawn).

Castle Walls requested a fourth payment on April 19 and provided Johansen with a waiver and "unconditional release of claims and liens". CP 100; 114; 150 (release). Castle Walls certified it had been paid \$228,863.83 for labor, services, equipment, and material furnished to the Project through April

30, 2022; agreed to completely release any rights or claims against the Project through April 30; and further agreed to indemnify and defend Johansen from any claims from Castle Walls' failure to have satisfied its obligations. *Id*.

But Castle Walls never paid Automatic Wilbert its portion of the joint checks. Instead, it fraudulently converted all of the funds to its own use, by tendering the checks without Automatic's signature, CP 101; 114-115, and then withdrawing the funds when its bank failed to reject the improper tenders.

Consequently, on May 6, Automatic Wilbert recorded its lien for non-payment of \$127,574.75 for materials supplied to Castle Walls. CP 101; 152-153. When Johansen received the claim on May 12, it learned that Castle Walls had "failed to obtain Automatic Wilbert's endorsement and, instead, cashed the two-party checks, failed to pay Automatic Wilbert, and kept the funds for itself." CP 114-115. Johansen demanded that Castle Walls get the lien removed within two weeks without cost to Johansen or the Owner, and gave notice Castle Walls would be

charged for any costs and impacts from a failure to remove the lien, per the Subcontract. CP 155-156.

But Castle Walls took no steps to pay Automatic Wilbert or remove the lien. CP 115 ¶16. Johansen sent Castle Walls a Notice of Default giving it three days from receipt on June 10 to cure the default. CP 158-159;124 ¶Q (Subcontract). After no response and repeated calls, Johansen terminated the Subcontract for cause by letter notice dated July 22. CP 161; 124.

In the meantime, the Project needed to be completed. Johansen negotiated an agreement with and paid Automatic Wilbert to get the lien removed and allow the Project to resume after the lien claim stopped it. CP 102-03; 116; 163-167 (agreement). This required negotiating the price of the supplies and a commitment to expedite engineering, fabrication, and delivery. *See* CP 168.

Johansen thus filled the breach after Castle Walls' failure to ensure the Project was completed.

PETITI●N F●R REVIEW - 6 JOH•68-•037 7579606 2. Castle Walls assigned all its property to Partners. LLC, Realization which was subsequently appointed the Receiver to Castle Walls by the Superior Court. The automatic stay was entered on July 29, 2022. Castle Walls' bank, confronted by Johansen's bank after discovery of the fraud with having deposited the checks into Castle Walls' account without the required signature of Automatic Gilbert, belatedly reversed the deposits and returned Johansen's monies to Johansen.

Castle Walls' assignment for the benefit of creditors was accepted by the Receiver on July 27, 2022. CP 1-7. Two days later the Receiver was appointed by the court, CP 20, putting the automatic stay in place a full week after Castle Walls was terminated.

Both the assignment and the appointment order specify that the Receiver received "all of assignor's property... including...contract rights". CP 5-6; 20 ¶A (Order).

The largest secured creditor is 1st Security Bank ("Bank") with secured claims over \$2,600,000. CP 8. 1st Security is also the bank that accepted the fraudulent tenders of the joint checks from Castle Walls, depositing the money from those checks into

Castle Walls' account even though they lacked the required signature from Automatic Wilbert.

As previously stated, the Bank reversed the amounts of the checks and debited Castle Walls' account when the Bank realized it had negotiated those checks without the required signature from Automatic Wilbert. Its return of money to Johansen's bank had to have been done out of the Bank's own funds, because the original monies had long since been withdrawn and spent by Castle Walls, as the Decision recognized. *See* Decision at 13, fn.6.

3. The Receiver's demand for turnover by Johansen of "accounts receivable" allegedly due Castle Walls under the Subcontract as "Estate Property" ignored the fraudulent negotiation of the joint checks and the earlier termination of Castle Walls.

On August 18, 2022, the Receiver's counsel and Johansen's counsel spoke regarding the Receiver's claim of its right to recover Castle Walls' equipment abandoned at the

Project site so that it could be sold at auction.² The Receiver first requested the funds as property of the receivership estate by email on August 31, 2022, because, it said, they represented "accounts receivable" due Castle Walls for invoices which had earlier been paid "but the deposits were reversed. As a result, the balance remains unpaid." CP 89-90 (email).

Johansen declined, stating that, due to Castle Walls' breaches of contract from fraudulently cashing the joint checks and failing to pay its supplier the Subcontract had been terminated, Johansen's remedies accelerated, and when the Receiver "stepped into Castle Walls' shoes" a week later it had no rights to "receivables" from Johansen under the Subcontract. CP 92 (email).

4. Superior Court proceedings.

The Receiver then filed for summary turnover of the funds under RCW 7.60.070, which presumes a moving receiver is

_

 $^{^{2}}$ CP 109-110, ¶2.

entitled to the property. CP 37-44. Ignoring the terms of the Subcontract and the pre-assignment termination, the Receiver asserted that because the payments had been reversed for invalid endorsement, Castle Walls' invoices "have reverted to being unpaid" so that "Johansen still owes the receivership estate" what it called "Owed Funds". CP 39.

Johansen responded that the funds sought "are not due to Castle Walls, are not an asset or property of the Receivership estate, and the Receiver has no claim over the funds." CP 99. Johansen then elaborated on the contract-based reasons why Castle Walls – and thus the Receiver – had no right to one penny of the funds. CP 99-108. Johansen challenged the Receiver's refusal to acknowledge Castle Walls' pre-appointment termination, or the effect of the fraudulent negotiation of the three checks, or the express provision of RCW 7.60.070 barring summary turnover if there is a bona fide dispute. *Id*.

The Receiver asserted for the first time on reply that "Johansen caused [the funds] to be withdrawn from Castle

PETITI●N F●R REVIEW - 1● JOH•68-••37 75796•6

Walls' bank account and for that account to be overdrawn in that amount on August 3, 2022, after the appointment of the Receiver on July 29, 2022," CP 179, asserting that Johansen was a wrongdoer for "causing" the funds to be transferred after the appointment of the receiver. Its allegation that Johansen violated the automatic stay became the focus of its arguments from then on, citing a superior court commissioner's decision in a different case in support.³

Johansen's Amended Opening Brief ("AOB") to the Court of Appeals, at pp. 20-28, details the oral arguments in the trial court and the Court is respectfully directed there. Of particular import is that the Receiver's position ignores the effect of the Subcontract as if its provisions do not apply; under that analysis the Receiver did not take Castle Walls' assets and contract rights

³ The superior court decision was from *In re Receivership of Applied Restoration*, ___ Wn.App.2d ___, 539 P.3d 837 (2023), petition for review pending, No. 102883-1 ("Applied Restoration"). Johansen addresses this case in the discussion of the Court of Appeals decision, *infra*.

subject to its breaches or termination. Indeed, the Receiver expressly argued that the funds acquired by Castle Walls' negotiation of the joint checks "are not stolen funds" and that "[t]he receiver does not step into Castle Walls' shoes." RP 15, quoted at AOB 23, fn. 21.

The trial court's order requiring turnover of all the funds to the Receiver was filed the day after the hearing and had no rationale. CP 221-222. Nor did the court give an indication of its reasons for the ruling during the hearing. *See* RP 23-38. Johansen appealed and has superseded the judgment.

5. Court of Appeals decision.

Johansen's central focus on appeal remained on the core principle of receiverships, including the critical limit on a receiver's authority that receivers "stand in the shoes" of the insolvent, with no less but also no more property than the insolvent had at the time of assignment—as held by three of this Court's cases, which were cited at pages 24 and 33 of Johansen's Amended Opening Brief ("AOB") and which Johansen has cited

PETITION FOR REVIEW - 12 JOH068-0037 7579606 to this Court in its first Issue at p.2 of this Petition. Johansen also

focused on the fact Castle Walls had no rights to any funds from

the joint checks (wherever they might have been) because they

were stolen by being deposited without the required second

signature, and thus were not estate property. And because the

Receiver had no rights in the funds, it could not seek them by

turnover under RCW 7.60.070 since, at minimum, there was a

bona fide dispute over ownership.

The Receiver's argument asserted Johansen was a "bad

actor" (supposedly like the contractor in Applied Restoration,

supra n. 4), who allegedly violated the automatic stay by

"causing" the disputed funds to be sent to it from the Castle Walls

account after entry of the stay.

Evidently embracing the Receiver's claim, the Decision

charged Johansen with post-appointment misconduct involving

a supposed effort to jump the line of creditors. See, e.g., Decision

at 17,⁴ 19. It thus placed Johansen in the same "bad-actor" category for which the Decision's author, Judge Hazelrigg, had recently admonished the contractor in *In re Receivership of Applied Restoration*, *supra*, *petition for review pending*.⁵

The Decision disposed of the fundamental "standing in the shoes" issue, which is central to any claimed violation of the automatic stay by Johansen, by concluding that principle no longer need be followed because of the 2004 recodification of the receivership statutes:

While our Supreme Court has previously noted that "the receiver stands in the shoes of the insolvent," this does not end the inquiry. *Morse Electro Prods. Corp. v. Beneficial Indus. Loan Co.*, 90 Wn.2d 195, 198, 579 P.2d

⁴ Stating that Johansen "took no action [based on improperly endorsed checks] until three business days after the court appointed a receiver, roughly two-and-a-half months" after Johansen's May 16 demand letter referencing the improper endorsement, that thus it was Johansen who acted on August 3.

⁵ Whether *Applied Restoration* was correctly decided or not, it has overlapping issues with this case about a receiver's authority and application of the automatic stay of RCW 7.60.110, along with material factual differences. If the Court grants review in *Applied Restoration* it should grant review herein and consider the cases together to fully explicate the authority of receivers and application of the stay in these different circumstances.

1341 (1978). Not only has the legislature amended the receivership statute in the decades since *Morse* was published, but the blind application of such a rule would require this court to ignore the specific circumstances of the case, the equitable powers of the court, and the relevant provisions of the current receivership statute.

Decision at 11 (emphasis added). The Decision does not point to any statutory provision which makes such a major change.

D. Why This Court Should Grant Review.

1. The scope of and limitations on receiverships under long-established Washington law.

Receiverships developed within equity under the common law to address financial difficulties and failures. *See* 65 AM. JUR.

2D RECEIVERS § 5, "Purpose and Objective of Receiverships," (2024 update) (footnotes omitted). Receiverships thus are intended to be a flexible tool, but subject to supervision of the superior courts. The Final Bill Report for SSB 6189, the 2004 legislation, noted receiverships' origins in Washington before statehood:

Background: A receiver is a person appointed by a court to take charge, as the court's own agent, over property of a party....Washington's current receivership chapter consists of five sections, most of which were originally enacted by the Territorial Legislature over 150 years ago.⁶

Receiverships are premised on a general assignment for the benefit of creditors to the proposed receiver of all the insolvent's property per RCW 7.08.030, after which the superior court makes the formal appointment per RCW 7.60.025. "Property" includes all legal and equitable right, title and interests of the insolvent assignor. RCW 7.60.005(9).

For this reason it has long been said that the receiver "steps into the shoes" of the assignor-insolvent – the receiver gets no less *but also no more* property rights than what the assignor had.

This Court has repeatedly recognized the importance of this principle. *See Morse Electro Products Corp. v. Beneficial Industrial Loan Co.*, 90 Wn.2d 195, 198, 579 P.2d 1341 (1978),

PETITION FOR REVIEW - 16 JOH068-0037 7579606

⁶ Final Bill Report, SSB 6189, available at https://lawfilesext.leg.wa.gov/biennium/2003-04/Pdf/Bill%20Reports/Senate/6189-S.FBR.pdf?q=20240428014438 (viewed 4/28/24).

Roeblings Sons Co. v. Frederickson Logging & Timber Co., 153
Wash. 580, 585, 280 P. 93 (1929), and Western Electric Co., Inc.
v. Norway Pacific Constr. & Drydock Co., 124 Wash. 49, 60, 213
P. 686 (1923).

2. Review should be granted per RAP 13.4(b)(1) & (4) to decide whether the Court of Appeals erred in determining the legislature changed long-standing law on receiverships in its 2004 recodification such that this Court's cases holding a receiver "stands in the shoes" of the insolvent were overruled, permitting disregard of those decisions and of an insolvent's contract rights on the date of the assignment.

Review should be granted due to the Decision's conflict with this Court's decisions holding that a receiver, as an assignee of an insolvent, "stands in the shoes of the insolvent" and has no more rights than the assignor-insolvent. The Decision expressly disregards this Court's decisions in *Morse Electro Prods. Corp.*, Roeblings Sons Co. v. Frederickson Logging & Timber Co., and Western Electric Co., Inc. v. Norway Pacific Constr. & Drydock

Co., and without even mentioning Roeblings or Western Electric.⁷ It does so on the assertion that

application of such a rule would require this court to ignore the specific circumstances of the case, the equitable powers of the court, and the relevant provisions of the current receivership statute.

Decision at 11. This ruling was made without citing a single statute, circumstance, or equitable power that the "stand in the shoes" principle supposedly tramples.

By rejecting *Morse, Roeblings,* and *Western Electric*, the Decision rejected the fundamental principle of assignment law on which receiverships and those decisions are based: that the assignee, including a receiver, obtains no more and no less than the rights of the assignor.⁸ The conflict with this Court's decisions alone is sufficient to grant review per RAP 13.4(b)(1).

⁷ Remarkably, the Decision references only the *Morse* decision and not *Roeblings* or *Western Electric* even though they were placed squarely before the court in the AOB at 24 and 33.

⁸ E.g., Walton v. Severson, 100 Wn.2d 446, 455, 670 P.2d 639 (1983) ("assignee who receives full title and interest stands in the shoes of his assignor").

Plus, this ruling is wrong. The text and history of the 2004 legislation show no such change was intended, justifying review per RAP 13.4(b)(4) to clarify and explain the law of receiverships.

Neither the legislation nor the legislative reports suggest such a major change was made. The Final Bill Report for SSB 6189 characterized the bill as a consolidation and codification of receivership statutes, most of which dated to Territorial days over 150 years ago, to put all the related statutes in one chapter.⁹ The Purpose section states:

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