FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
5/30/2024 11:04 AM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

Supreme Court No. 1030185

### WASHINGTON STATE SUPREME COURT

-----

No. 85105-5-1

# WASHINGTON STATE COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION I

In the Receivership of: CASTLE WALLS LLC.

### JOHANSEN CONSTRUCTION COMPANY, LLC,

Petitioner,

v.

### REVITALIZATION PARTNERS, L.L.C.,

Respondent/Receiver.

# RESPONDENT'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

John R. Knapp, Jr., WSBA No. 29343 David C. Neu, WSBA No. 33143 MILLER NASH LLP 605 5<sup>th</sup> Ave S, Suite 900 Seattle, WA 98104 206.624.8300

Attorneys for Respondent Revitalization Partners, L.L.C.

## **

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

The modern receivership statute is consistent with this precedent and expressly states that:

the court in all cases has . . . the exclusive possession and right of control with respect to all . . . property with respect to which the receiver is appointed, wherever located, and the exclusive jurisdiction to determine all controversies relating to the collection, preservation, application, and distribution of all the property . . . .

RCW 7.60.055(1). The Superior Court also has flexibility to expand the Receiver's powers: "The various powers and duties of a receiver provided for by this chapter may be expanded, modified, or limited by order of the court for good cause shown." RCW 7.60.060(3).

The receivership statute further expressly provides that the Superior Court has jurisdiction over creditors, including Johansen, who file proofs of claim:

Creditors . . . or other persons submitting written claims in the receivership and otherwise appearing and participating in the receivership, are bound by the acts of the receiver with regard to management and disposition of estate property whether or not they are formally joined as parties.

RCW 7.60.190(1).

2. <u>Under *Morse*</u>, entitlement to property is subject to <u>legal priorities</u>.

In *Morse*, a receiver was appointed over National's assets. One of the assets was a claim against Beneficial as to a reserve fund that Beneficial retained under an agreement with National. The receiver assigned the claim to Morse, who then sought to recover the reserve fund from Beneficial. There was nothing left in the reserve fund, because under its agreement with National, Beneficial had the right to keep it under certain

circumstances. The Court held that "the reserve fund is exhausted and there is no longer any amount in which National would have had an interest. Since Morse, as assignee of National's receiver, has no greater interest than National would have had, its claim . . . must fail." Morse, 90 Wn.2d at 199, 579 P.2d at 1343. The Court also held that, while Beneficial and Morse both had security interests in National's assets, Morse could not recover on the basis of its security interest because Beneficial had priority due to perfection of its security interest, while Morse's had lapsed. The priorities under Washington law controlled how rights in an asset involved in a receivership were to be determined. See 90 Wn.2d at 201, 579 P.2d at 1344. Accordingly, the Court affirmed the trial court's decision that Morse had no claim to the reserve fund.

The Published Opinion and the Turnover Order are consistent with *Morse*. The Receiver obtained the rights to

Castle Walls' bank account, and the automatic stay came into effect to protect it, and the statutory priority scheme governs how creditors are to be paid. Johansen had no rights to the bank account and no relief from the automatic stay, and its claim is unsecured. Furthermore, *Morse* did not involve an automatic stay or the exercise of turnover rights by the receiver, so it does not preclude the Turnover Order or undermine the Published Opinion.

3. This case is consistent with the precedent of Western Electric because it stands for the ability of the Superior Court to determine property ownership in receiverships.

In Western Electric Co., Inc. v. Norway Pacific Constr. & Drydock Co., 124 Wn. 49, 60, 213 P. 686 (1923), in a dispute between a receiver and a seller of machinery to the company in receivership over ownership of the machinery, the Superior Court determined that the seller owned it under the terms of a conditional sales contracts and ordered the receiver to surrender

it to the seller. *See* 124 Wn. at 50-53, 213 P. at 687-88. This Court affirmed the Superior Court, holding: "The receiver, except as to fraudulent sales and transfers, is not vested with any higher or better right or title to the property than the insolvent had when the receiver's title accrued . . . ." 124 Wn. at 60, 213 P. 686, 690.

Again, here, the Receiver took control of Castle Walls' assets, including its bank account and the proceeds thereof, upon appointment. The Superior Court had the power to determine (and the Court of Appeals correctly affirmed) that the bank account was estate property and that the proceeds of the overdraft that that Johnson caused should be returned by Johansen to the Receiver. Unlike the seller in *Western Electric*, Johansen did not establish any ownership interest in the account or the overdraft funds.

4. The Published Opinion and Turnover Order are consistent with *Roeblings* because distribution out of receiverships is governed by statutory priorities.

In John A. Roeblings Sons Co. v. Frederickson Logging & Timber Co., 153 Wn. 580, 280 P. 93 (1929), a receiver was appointed over a logging company, whose assets were subject to a chattel mortgage. The receiver sold the property, and a dispute arose over how much of the proceeds should go to the chattel mortgagee or the state, which had a statutory lien as well as a payment priority. See id. at 581, 280 P. at 93.

This Court determined that the applicable statute gave priority to claims of the state, as it provided:

'[I]n all cases of insolvency, assignment for the benefit of creditors, or bankruptcy, the claim of the state for payments due herein shall be a claim prior to all other claims, except taxes. . . . These statutes must be read into the contract of lien or lien created by law. They are part of such contract or lien and when such contracts or liens are created they must necessarily be subject to the statues allowing prior claims in case of insolvency.'

Id. at 583-84, 280 P. at 94. In reversing the Superior Court's limitation of the claim to the state's lien rights, this Court held: "[W]e are satisfied that the insolvency provisions apply. The property involved was that of the insolvent, even though it was impressed with a mortgage lien. That the receiver took over the same title which the insolvent had is clear, for, as stated, in 34 Cyc. p. 191: 'A receiver can acquire no other, greater, or better interest than the debtor had in the property, and to this extent the receiver has been held to stand in the shoes of the debtor." 153 Wn. at 585, 280 P. at 95. The point of "standing in the shoes" was that the receiver took the property of the insolvent company, and the insolvency priorities applied to that property.

The Published Opinion and the Turnover Order are consistent with *Roeblings* because they too follow the priorities that the legislature established for claims in receiverships of the insolvent Castle Walls. The Superior Court and the Court of

Appeals properly determined that any claim of Johansen relating to check endorsements is an unsecured claim, and that any distribution on that claim would have to be made under RCW 7.60.230(1)—not by Johansen taking matters into its own hands.

B. Review is not warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(4) because the Petition does not raise any issue of substantial public importance.

The Petition does not raise any issue of substantial public importance. For example, this Court noted that the "prime example of an issue of substantial public interest" was an appellate decision that had "the potential to affect *every* sentencing proceeding in Pierce County . . . ." *State v. Watson*, 155 Wn.2d 574, 577, 122 P.3d 903, 904 (2005) (emphasis added). This Court has also accepted review of decisions involving a substantial public issue, such as whether the Court of Appeals should follow a "horizontal stare decisis" rule

whereby a court in one division would be bound to follow the appellate decision in another, or whether a prior Supreme Court decision that affected all escalation clauses in the child support part of dissolution decrees should be applied retroactively. *See Matter of Arnold*, 189 Wn.2d 1023, 408 P.3d 1091, 1093 (2017) (granting review where decision following that rule was contrary to tradition and risked perpetuating incorrect law); *In re Marriage of Ortiz*, 108 Wn.2d 643, 646, 740 P.2d 843, 845 (1987). This Court's decisions in all of those cases necessarily have wide-reaching effects and are important to more than just the parties, contract, and claim involved in this equitable proceeding.

1. The legislative history of the receivership statute is improper and unnecessary to consider, but does support the Published Opinion and Turnover Order.

Johansen seeks to cast its "stands in the shoes" argument as "justifying review per RAP 13.4(b)(4) to clarify and explain

the law of receiverships" in view of the text and legislative history of the receivership statute. (Petition at 19.)

The Court should disregard Johansen's argument that a conflict with this Court's precedent exists based on the legislative history of the receivership statute. As a preliminary matter, Johansen is making its argument about legislative history for the first time on appeal. "[A]n issue raised for the first time on appeal [should not be considered unless] the claimed error is a manifest error affecting a constitutional right." Hiesterman v. Dep't of Health, 24 Wn. App. 2d 907, 913, 524 P.3d 693, 696 (2022) (citing RAP 2.5(a)(3)); see also City of Seattle v. Long, 198 Wn.2d 136, 155-56, 493 P.3d 94 (2021) ("[A]n appellant must show (1) the error is manifest and (2) the error is truly of constitutional dimension."). The Petition neither mentions RAP 2.5 nor sets forth any basis for a manifest error or relationship to the constitution. The filings and record

in Superior Court show that Johansen's argument was limited to the text of the receivership statute. CP 107-108, 214-215.

Moreover, there is no need to resort to legislative history because the plain language of the receivership statute is clear. Johansen did not raise any objections before the Superior Court on the basis that the text of the receivership statute was ambiguous; it only objected to the Receiver being entitled to statutory relief under the applicable facts. "We need not utilize interpretive tools such as legislative history when statutory language is unambiguous." Spokane County v. Dep't of Fish & Wildlife, 192 Wn.2d 453, 458, 430 P.3 655, 658 (2018) (citing State v. Velazquez, 176 Wn.2d 333, 336, 292 P.3d 92 (2013)) (affirming trial court's order under plain language of statute). The Published Opinion notes that the text of the receivership statute is plain. There is no ambiguity to resolve.

Even if the Court were to consider the legislative history, and accept that it "codifies, consolidates, and clarifies" prior law, the Turnover Order and the Published Opinion are still consistent with it. The legislative history specifically calls out the automatic stay and the priorities for creditor claims: "A temporary stay of certain creditor actions, in cases in which all of a person's property is placed in the hands of a receiver, is imposed to provide the receiver with an opportunity to address emergent situations, while giving anyone stayed the opportunity to seek relief from the stay for good cause. A comprehensive claims procedure and system of priorities in general liquidating receiverships is established." Final Bill Report, SSB 6189, at 1-2; see also Washington State House of Representatives Bill Analysis, SSB 6189, at 2.

Furthermore, the existing case law, as exemplified by *Gloyd* and *Roeblings*, demonstrates that the Receiver *at a* 

minimum had what Castle Walls had as of the appointment of the Receiver. The Receiver also has the rights of bona fide creditors and the powers associated with its role as an officer of the Superior Court. Those powers have long included the ability to compel turnover of property from third parties, especially parties who have chosen to participate in the receivership action, so that the property can be properly administered in the receivership under the supervision of the court. The estate property definition of RCW 7.60.005(9), the automatic stay of RCW 7.60.110, the jurisdiction granted under RCW 7.60.055, and the turnover provisions RCW 7.60.070 put into statutory form the tools the receiver has at its disposal to carry out its duties. There is no precedent for Johansen's vigilante justice.

2. The Receiver is complying with state law, and bankruptcy law supports the Published Opinion and Turnover Order.

Johansen also wants review in order to "clarify the authority of receivers under Washington law and whether Washington law or bankruptcy law applies to determine what constitutes estate property." (Petition at 26.) It is appropriate for Washington courts to use bankruptcy case law as authority for interpretation of the receivership statute given the similarity of their provisions, applicability in insolvency situations, and novelty. See, e.g., Charter Private Bank v. Sacotte, 181 Wn. App. 1032, 2014 WL 2796554, at \*2 (June 16, 2014) (unpublished opinion); see also Union Bank, N.A. v. Blanchard, 194 Wn. App. 340, 361-62 & n.15, 378 P.3d 191, 202 (2016) (comparing similar provisions of bankruptcy code to support interpretation of receivership statute, including that receiver is officer of the court and creditors are bound by acts of the

receiver when filing proofs of claim); *Brunetti v. Reed*, 70 Wn. App. 180, 184, 852 P.2d 1099, 1102 (1993) (citing *In re Schwartz*, 954 F.2d 569, 571 (9<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1992)) ("A violation of this 'stay' provision is considered a void action.")

Johansen apparently believes there is some state law applicable to claims relating to stolen property in receiverships. As with Johansen's effort to bring in legislative history for the first time at the appellate stage, Johansen raises here for the first time the issue of whether the Turnover Order reflects a failure of the Receiver in its "duty to comply with state law." RCW 7.60.060(2). None of the opinions cited by Johansen in the Petition regarding this issue involves a receivership or a right to cause an overdraft on a bank account and keep the money. (*See* Petition at 21 n.11, 25 n. 16.) The Court of Appeals addresses this perfectly in the Published Opinion by assuming that even if the bank had been required to return funds to Johansen and the

checks were invalid without two endorsements, the Superior Court still had the power to exercise broad equitable powers in response to the circumstances of the case. Johansen's acts in causing the funds to be taken out of the Receiver's bank account and keeping them were in the context of the receivership and in violation of the automatic stay, justifying the entry of the Turnover Order. (*See* Published Opinion at 17-19.)

The Receiver is complying with state law in recovering the funds from Johansen—in order to administer property in accordance with the priority scheme established by the receivership statute. Johansen points to no authority that gives priority to claims allegedly arising from theft or allows vigilante action by creditors. If there is public importance, it is to deny review and allow the mandate to issue on the Published Opinion under RAP 12.5(a)(3). "Allowing Johansen to sidestep

the distribution scheme and receive full payment of the funds at issue here is contrary to public policy and the clear intent of our legislature as expressed in the plain language of the receivership statute: to fairly distribute estate property to all of Castle Walls' creditors." (Published Opinion at 19.)

Otherwise, the Petition is all about Johansen's personal violation of receivership law, not the public interest. Johansen does nothing to show that the fact pattern involving the Turnover Order is likely to recur. The problem is of Johansen's making by violating the automatic stay and only affects

Johansen and its claim—not everyone who might ever come into contact with a receivership.

The answers here are necessarily case and fact specific.

They do not merit review under RAP 13.4(b)(4), which is proper only for issues with "ramifications beyond the particular parties and the particular facts of an individual case." Wash.

App. Prac. Deskbook § 18.2(3). Johansen cites no authority for of its unique claim issues being ones that would justify review as affecting the public interest. The public interest is served by letting the Published Opinion and Turnover Order stand, and there is no need to review them.

### IV. CONCLUSION

The Court should deny the Petition. The Court of
Appeals thoroughly analyzed the unambiguous receivership
statute and applied this equitable proceeding's abuse of
discretion standard to affirm the Turnover Order. The
Published Opinion is consistent with this Court's precedent and
the public interest.

# I certify that the foregoing document contains 4,990 words, in compliance with RAP 18.17.